FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/14/2017 10:27 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No.

COA, Division I No. 74241-8-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AKER BIOMARINE ANTARCTIC AS, a Norwegian corporation, and AKER BIOMARINE ANTARCTIC II AS, a Norwegian corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

NAM CHUONG HUYNH and LIN R. BUI, husband and wife, and JOHANNAH READ, as guardian ad litem for H.H. 1, H.H. 2, and H.H. 3, minors,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Aker BioMarine Antarctic II AS ("AKAS II") and Aker Biomarine Antarctic AS ("AKAS")¹ petition this Court for review of the designated portion of the Court of Appeals' decision, as more fully described in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion was issued on May 22, 2017 and is included at Appendix A. Petitioners filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which was denied by the Court of Appeals on June 16, 2017. Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision set forth in Part II, at pages 12 - 26.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Can Washington courts exercise specific personal jurisdiction over a foreign company sued in Washington for injuries allegedly caused by negligence that occurred in Uruguay, where all the tortious conduct occurred, if at all, outside of Washington?
- B. Did the Court of Appeals misinterpret the due process requirements for the exercise of specific personal jurisdiction over a foreign company sued in Washington for injuries allegedly caused by negligence that occurred in Uruguay, where all the tortious conduct occurred, if at all, outside of Washington?

¹ AKAS and AKAS II were sued as if they were separate, although they merged subsequent to the date of the accident. In May, 2012, AKAS II sold the ANTARCTIC SEA to AKAS. In June, 2012, the two companies decided to merge. In August 2012 the merger was complete, leaving AKAS as the surviving company. CP 1140, *as amended by* CP 1217, 1303. Because they were separate at the time of the events giving rise to this case, unless otherwise indicated, we refer to each separately.

- C. Does Washington's "but for" test for relatedness satisfy the requirements of due process in light of the United States Supreme Court's decisions in *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown,* 564 U.S. 915 (2011); *Daimler AG v. Bauman,* U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 746 (2014); *Walden v. Fiore,* U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 1115 (2014); *BNSF Ry. v. Tyrrell,* U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1549 (2017); and *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court,* U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L.Ed.2d 395 (2017)?
- D. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly apply the "but for" test for relatedness when it concluded that a contract between the foreign defendant company and a third party located in Washington supplied a sufficient connection between the underlying controversy and Washington, where no activity or occurrence comprising any part of the defendant company's challenged conduct occurred within Washington or was directed here?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Nam Chuong Huynh and his family sued AKAS and AKAS II, alleging Mr. Huynh was injured due to an electric shock while working in Uruguay for his employer, Marel Seattle, Inc. ("Marel Seattle"), on board the Norwegian vessel, ANTARCIC SEA. CP 1–4.

The Aker BioMarine AS group of companies is engaged in the harvesting and processing of krill (small, shrimp-like crustaceans) in the waters of the Southern Ocean near Antarctica. CP 1136–37. AKAS is a Norwegian business entity that was formed in 2005. CP 944 at ¶ 14; 1137. On August 31, 2011, AKAS purchased a Norwegian company named "Startfase 465 AS," and subsequently changed the company's name to AKAS II. CP 1137. AKAS II was a wholly owned subsidiary of AKAS. *Id.*

On October 18, 2011, AKAS II purchased the ANTARCTIC SEA, a Norwegian-flagged vessel with its registered homeport in Svolvaer, Norway. CP 945 ¶ 18; 1137–38. The vessel's fish processing facilities needed refurbishment. CP 945 ¶¶ 18, 52. Marel Seattle, a wholly owned subsidiary of an Icelandic corporation Marel hf, provided a quote for the refurbishment project. CP 942-43 ¶ 4-5; CP 950 ¶ 54; Ex. 3.

Marel Seattle's quote was sent via e-mail from Henrik Rasmussen, Marel Seattle's president, to Webjørn Eikrem, the Executive Vice President of AKAS and a member of the board of AKAS II. CP 943 ¶8; CP 945 ¶16; CP 947 ¶ 33. Mr. Eikrem accepted the quote on behalf of AKAS II RP (8/17/2015) 96:10-97:20; 142:13-16, and a contract was reached between Marel Seattle and AKAS II. CP 1141 – 42.

On January 6, 2012, Mr. Huynh, at the request of his employer, Marel Seattle, arrived in Montevideo, Uruguay, where the ANTARCTIC SEA was berthed. CP 951 \P 60. On that same date, Huynh boarded the ANTARCTIC SEA and began work. CP 951 \P 60. While performing this work, Huynh suffered injuries due to an electrical shock. CP 951 \P 60.

In this lawsuit, Mr. Huynh and his family claim that his injuries were the result of negligence of AKAS and/or AKAS II as follows:

- a. The vessel and equipment were in an unsafe condition;
- b. The defect in the equipment was caused by actions of defendant' agents;
- c. Defendants and their agents knew or should have known of the unsafe condition;
- d. Defendants and their agents failed to properly inspect the ship's equipment; and/or

e. Defendants and their agents failed to warn Plaintiff Nam Chuong Huynh of hazards of when they knew or should have known.

CP 3; 1136.

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint in King County Superior Court on November 25, 2014. CP 1. AKAS and AKAS II subsequently moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. CP 11–84. The trial court ordered an evidentiary hearing pursuant to CR 12(d) in order to resolve several factual disputes. VRP (4/17/2015) 23:17-19; CP 681. The evidentiary hearing was held in 2015 on June 26, August 17 and 18. CP 1133. Following the evidentiary hearing the trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law, deciding that it had specific personal jurisdiction over AKAS II, but not over AKAS, except in its capacity as the successor to the liability, if any, of AKAS II. CP 1133–1148, *as amended by* CP 1216–17, and CP 1290–91. The parties filed cross-appeals, after which the Court of Appeals issued its opinion on May 22, 2017. AKAS II timely filed its Motion for Reconsideration on June 9, 2017, which was denied by the Court of Appeals on June 16, 2017.

AKAS II now timely seeks review by this Court.

V. ARGUMENT

Over the past six years, in a series of decisions starting with *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915 (2011), the U.S. Supreme Court has been steadily reshaping and refining personal jurisdiction jurisprudence. These decisions are widely recognized as tightening rather than expanding the power of state and federal courts to

exercise jurisdiction over foreign defendants. See, e.g., William V. Dorsaneo, III, Pennoyer Strikes Back: Personal Jurisdiction in A Global Age, 3 Tex. A&M L. Rev. 1, 17 (2015); Charles W. "Rocky" Rhodes & Cassandra Burke Robertson, Toward A New Equilibrium in Personal Jurisdiction, 48 U.C. Davis L. Rev. 207, 211 (2014); see also Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court, U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L.Ed.2d 395, 407 (2017) (Sotomayor, J., dissenting).

The instant appeal concerns the exercise of case-specific jurisdiction by a Washington court over AKAS II, a Norwegian company, for harm to Mr. Huynh, a Washington resident, that occurred in Uruguay allegedly as a result of AKAS II's assertedly negligent acts or omissions in Uruguay. The lower courts linked the plaintiffs' claims to AKAS II's Washington activity through its contract to hire Mr. Huynh's employer, Marel Seattle, to refurbish the factory on the ANTARCTIC SEA in Uruguay, which the trial court found was the reason Marel Seattle sent Mr. Huynh there. The lower courts concluded that this satisfies Washington's "but for" test for relatedness between a foreign defendant's in-state activities and a plaintiff's claims. Recent Supreme Court jurisprudence casts that conclusion in substantial doubt.

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is in Conflict with Decisions of this Court and of the U.S. Supreme Court and Concerns a Significant Question of Law under the United States Constitution

The Court of Appeals concluded that AKAS II is subject to specific jurisdiction in Washington because "but for" AKAS II's contract

with Marel Seattle to refurbish the factory on the ANTARCTIC SEA, Mr.
Huynh would not have been in Uruguay where AKAS II's alleged negligence injured him. This decision is in conflict with *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 919 (2011); *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, _____ U.S. ____, 134 S. Ct. 746 (2014); *Walden v. Fiore*, _____ U.S. ____, 134 S. Ct. 1115 (2014); *BNSF Ry. v. Tyrrell*, _____ U.S. ____, 137 S. Ct. 1549 (2017); and *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, _____ U.S. ____, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L.Ed.2d 395 (2017).

Since 2011 the U.S. Supreme Court has issued six opinions addressing personal jurisdiction. In *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, ____U.S. ____, 134 S. Ct. 746 (2014), and *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 919 (2011), the Court clarified its earlier holdings on general jurisdiction by concluding that, except in an "exceptional case," a foreign corporation will only be subject to general jurisdiction at "its formal place of incorporation or principal place of business" *Daimler*, 134 S. Ct. at 761 n.19.

Where, as here, general jurisdiction over the foreign defendants is lacking, a court's adjudicatory authority will rest on whether it can exercise "case specific" jurisdiction. "Adjudicatory authority . . . , in which the suit arises out of or relates to the defendant's contacts with the forum, is . . . called specific jurisdiction." *Daimler*, 134 S. Ct. at 754. "Specific jurisdiction ... depends on an affiliation between the forum and the underlying controversy, principally, activity or an occurrence that takes place in the forum State and is therefore subject to the State's

regulation." *Goodyear*, 564 U.S. at 919 (internal quotes and citations omitted). In *BNSF*, 137 S. Ct. 1549, the Court concluded that the Montana courts could not exercise specific jurisdiction over the defendant railroad "[b]ecause neither [plaintiff] alleges any injury from work in or related to Montana...." The other three U.S. Supreme Court opinions since 2011 have been concerned more directly with specific jurisdiction.²

In a unanimous opinion, the Court concluded in *Walden v. Fiore* that "[f]or a State to exercise jurisdiction consistent with due process, the defendant's suit-related conduct must create a substantial connection with the forum state." 134 S. Ct. at 1122. In *Walden*, the Court examined the out-of-state defendant's "challenged conduct," concluding that because no part of that conduct had occurred within the forum state of Nevada, and had not been directed there by the defendant, Nevada did not have specific jurisdiction. *Id.* at 1125. The mere fact that the plaintiffs happened to reside in Nevada was considered by the Court to be irrelevant to the jurisdictional inquiry, because "the plaintiff cannot be the only link between the defendant and the forum." *Id.* at 1122. Although *Walden* involved intentional torts, its principles apply to all tort claims. *Id.* at 1123 ("The same principles apply when intentional torts are involved"); *see also Noll v. Am. Biltrite Inc.*, ____ Wn.2d ____, No. 91998-4, 2017 WL 2483270, at *5 (Wash. June 8, 2017).

² J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro, 564 U.S. 873 (2011), was also a personal jurisdiction case that arose in the product liability setting; it failed to garner a majority.

Most recently, the Court decided *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, ____U.S. ____, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L.Ed.2d 395 (2017).³ *Bristol-Myers* concerned a suit in California by 678 plaintiffs, some from California but most from other states, against Bristol-Myers, alleging injuries caused by the drug Plavix. *Id.*, 198 L.Ed.2d at 401. Although Bristol-Myers had considerable operations, facilities and employees in California, it was not subject to general jurisdiction there inasmuch as it was incorporated in Delaware and had its principle place of business in New York. *Id.* Consequently, the decision focused on whether the California state courts could exercise specific jurisdiction over Bristol-Myers for the claims of the non-resident plaintiffs. *Id.*

Bristol-Myers sold Plavix in California, but none of the nonresident plaintiffs purchased, used, or were injured by Plavix there. *Id.*at 404-05. The California Supreme Court applied a "sliding scale" approach in determining that California courts had specific jurisdiction over *Bristol-Myers*. Under this approach, "the more wide ranging the defendant's forum contacts, the more readily is shown a connection between the forum contacts and the claim." *Id.* at 402.

By a vote of 8-1 the Supreme Court reversed, saying: "In order for a state court to exercise specific jurisdiction, 'the *suit*' must 'aris[e] out of or relat[e] to the defendant's contacts with the *forum*."" *Id.* at 403

³ *Bristol-Myers* was decided after the Court of Appeals issued its decision in this instant case.

(emphasis in original, quoting *Daimler*, 134 S.Ct. at 754). The Court continued:

In other words, there must be an affiliation between the forum and the underlying controversy, principally, [an] activity or an occurrence that takes place in the forum State and is therefore subject to the State's regulation. For this reason, specific jurisdiction is confined to adjudication of issues deriving from, or connected with, the very controversy that establishes jurisdiction.

Id. (internal quotes and citations omitted). Although the Court acknowledged that personal jurisdiction is primarily concerned with the burden of the forcing a foreign defendant to litigate far from home, the majority emphasized that

it also encompasses the more abstract matter of submitting to the coercive power of a State that may have little legitimate interest in the claims in question. As we have put it, restrictions on personal jurisdiction are more than a guarantee of immunity from inconvenient or distant litigation. They are a consequence of territorial limitations on the power of the respective States.

Id. at 403-04. Re-emphasizing the focus of specific jurisdiction, the Court repeated that "there must be an affiliation between the forum and the underlying controversy, principally, [an] activity or an occurrence that takes place in the forum State." *Id.* at 404 (internal quotes and citation omitted).

The Court found the approach adopted by the California court to specific jurisdiction to be dangerous because it "found that specific jurisdiction was present without identifying any adequate link between the State and the nonresidents' claims." *Id.* After noting that the nonresident plaintiffs were not prescribed, did not ingest, and were not injured by

Plavix in California, the Court concluded: "What is needed – and what is missing here – is a connection between the forum and the specific claims at issue." *Id.* at 405.

Goodyear, Daimler, BNSF, Walden and Bristol-Myers teach that there must be a connection between the "specific claims at issue" and the forum. *Id.* "[T]he defendant's suit-related conduct must create a substantial connection with the forum state." *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1122. The suit-related conduct is the conduct challenged in the complaint. *Id.* at 1125.

Goodyear, albeit a general jurisdiction case, is instructive. There two 13 year old North Carolina boys were killed in a bus accident in France as a result to a defective tire that had been manufactured by Goodyear in the plant of a foreign subsidiary. *Goodyear*, 564 U.S. at 918. The Court addressed specific jurisdiction summarily: "Because the episode-in-suit, the bus accident, occurred in France, and the tire alleged to have caused the accident was manufactured and sold abroad, North Carolina courts lacked specific jurisdiction to adjudicate the controversy." *Id.* at 919.

Here, however, in the absence of a connection between Washington and AKAS II's allegedly tortious conduct, the Court of Appeals focused instead on the contract between AKAS II and a third party, Marel Seattle. Professing to apply Washington's "but for" test for relatedness, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "but for" AKAS II's contract with Marel Seattle, Mr. Huynh would never have gone to

10

Uruguay and, hence, would not have been injured there. Such reasoning ignores both the emerging rule⁴ for specific jurisdiction, and the reason underlying the rule.

First, the emerging rule instructs that specific jurisdiction requires that the foreign defendant's suit-related conduct must create a "substantial" relationship between the defendant and the forum. Walden, 134 S. Ct. at 1122. In examining suit-related conduct, the Court has required lower courts to focus on the defendant's "challenged conduct," Id. at 1125; the "episode in suit," Goodyear, 564 U.S. at 919; and "the specific claims at issue." Bristol-Myers, 198 L.Ed.2d at 402. If the Court of Appeals had followed the Court's specific guidance, it would have had to focus instead on the plaintiff's allegations of AKAS II's negligence and the link, if any, between that alleged negligence and Washington. Had it done so, it would have been forced to conclude that AKAS II's alleged negligence occurred, if at all, in Uruguay, far from Washington, and was not directed towards Washington. There is undoubtedly a connection between Mr. Huynh and Washington-he resides here-but "the plaintiff cannot be the only link between the defendant and the forum." Walden, 134 S. Ct. at 1122. There was no contract between AKAS II and Mr. Huynh. There are no contract claims in this case; the plaintiffs' claims are all aimed entirely at allegedly tortious conduct that occurred, if at all, in Uruguay on board a Norwegian vessel. No part of the specific claims at

⁴ Whether this rule is "emerging," or is a long-standing rule that is being clarified by the Court through its recent opinions, is not critical to this appeal.

issue involves a contract, and no part of AKAS II's challenged conduct occurred in or was directed towards Washington.

Second, a key reason for rules limiting the jurisdiction of state courts under the Fourteenth Amendment is "the more abstract matter of submitting [a foreign defendant] to the coercive power of a State that may have little legitimate interest in the claims in question." Bristol-Myers, 198 L.Ed.2d at 403. Restrictions on personal jurisdiction are also "a consequence of territorial limitations on the power of the respective States." Id. at 404. Yet, the lower courts have decided to take jurisdiction over claims allegedly arising out of the conduct of a foreign company on board a foreign vessel while docked thousands of miles away in foreign waters. In doing so, those courts have reached well beyond the reasonable territorial limitations of this state.⁵ The jurisdictional "hook" in this case is a contract with a third party⁶ who decided to send Mr. Huynh to Uruguay to perform part of the contract. But, that hook is not itself in any way part of the claims that are at issue, nor does it supply a basis for Washington to reach so far beyond its borders in order to address the allegedly negligent conduct that is at issue.

⁵ Nobody would suggest that it would be a legitimate exercise of state power for Washington to establish rules for workplace safety on board Norwegian ships, or in a Uruguayan shipyard.

⁶ "[A] defendant's relationship with a . . . third party, standing alone, is an insufficient basis for jurisdiction." *Bristol-Myers*, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L.Ed.2d at 405 (quoting *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1123).

This, of course, raises the important question of "relatedness" and whether Washington's "but for" test⁷ is consistent with the "substantial relationship" required by recent Supreme Court decisions.⁸ The "but for" test is employed by a minority of courts in the United States and has come under considerable criticism. See O'Connor v. Sandy Lane Hotel Co., 496 F.3d 312, 322 (3d Cir. 2007) ("But-for causation cannot be the sole measure of relatedness because it is vastly over inclusive....); Nowak v. Tak How Investments, Ltd., 94 F.3d 708, 715 (1st Cir. 1996) ("A 'but for' requirement, on the other hand, has in itself no limiting principle; it literally embraces every event that hindsight can logically identify in the causative chain."); Jayne S. Ressler, Plausibly Pleading Personal Jurisdiction, 82 Temp. L. Rev. 627, 656 (2009) ("The but for test of personal jurisdiction swings the courthouse door open far too wide...."). Recent authority shows, however, that due process requires the defendant's suit-related conduct to create a connection between the defendant and the forum that is "substantial." Walden, 134 S. Ct. at 1122; Pruczinski v. Ashby, 185 Wn.2d 492, 501, 374 P.3d 102, 106 (2016) (quoting *Walden*). The problem with the "but for" test is the danger that it

⁷ "From the standpoint of fairness it should make no difference where the cause of action matured, so long as it could not have arisen *but for the activities of the nonresident firm in the forum where it is ultimately sued.*" *Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines*, 113 Wn.2d 763, 769, 783 P.2d 78, 81 (1989) (italics in original; citation omitted).

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