FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/25/2017 11:49 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94746-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NAM CHUONG HUYNH and LIN R. BUI, husband and wife, and JOHANNA READ, as guardian *ad litem* for H.H.1, H.H.2, and H.H.3, minors,

Respondents,

v.

AKER BIOMARINE ANTARCTIC AS, a Norwegian corporation, and AKER BIOMARINE ANTARCTIC II AS, a Norwegian corporation,

Petitioners,

and

MAREL SEATTLE, INC., a Washington State corporation,

Defendant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4 sets forth the conditions under which this Court will review a Court of Appeals decision terminating review. Since Division I's decision

neither conflicts with this Court's nor the U.S. Supreme Court's precedent, id.(b)(1), and does not involve a significant question of law under the U.S. Constitution, id.(b)(3), this Court should deny review.²

1. The decision affirming denial of AKAS/AKAS II's motion does not conflict with this Court's precedent.

While AKAS and AKAS II argue that Division I's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions, they provide no argument to this effect. Indeed, their sole discussion of this Court's decisions is in just one paragraph at the end of their Petition, *Pet.* at 16, in which they fail to explain how any of the four decisions they cite—*i.e.*, *Swank v. Valley Christian Sch.*, No. 93282-4, 2017 Wash. LEXIS 746 (July 6, 2017); *Noll v. Am. Biltrite, Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 402, 395 P.3d 1021 (2017); *State v. LG Elecs., Inc.*, 186 Wn.2d 169, 375 P.3d 1035 (2016); *Pruczinski v. Ashby*, 185 Wn.2d 492, 374 P.3d 102 (2016)—in fact conflict with Division I's decision. Moreover, this Court in those four recent decisions already had the benefit of, and has taken the time to consider, most of the recent U.S. Supreme Court decisions that AKAS and AKAS II discuss in their Petition. *See Daimler AG v. Bauman*, __ U.S. __, 134 S. Ct. 746, 187 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2014), *Goodyear Dunlop Tire v.*

² AKAS and AKAS II do not argue the decision conflicts "with a published decision of the Court of Appeals", RAP 13.4(b)(2), or that their petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court. *Id.*(b)(4). *See Pet.* at 5.

³ Swank is not relevant. AKAS and AKAS II cite it as affirming a dismissal of an Idaho doctor who provided all his negligent medical care in Idaho, even though the injury was felt in Washington, but they fail to point out that special rules regarding non-resident professional negligence drove the result. Swank, 2017 Wash. LEXIS 746, at *28-29.

Brown, 564 U.S. 915, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 180 L. Ed. 2d 796 (2011); Walden v. Fiore, __ U.S. __, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 188 L. Ed. 2d 12 (2014). Therefore, because this Court has, on four recent occasions, already interpreted current U.S. Supreme Court precedent, clearly and expansively set out Washington law on this issue, and Division I's decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent, review should be denied.

In *Ashby*—an intentional tort case decided after *Bauman*, *Goodyear*, and *Walden*—an Idaho police officer arrested an Idaho driver for DUI and resisting arrest on the Washington side of the Washington-Idaho border. 185 Wn.2d at 496-97. The driver sued the officer in Washington and the officer moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. *Id.* at 497. This Court held that personal jurisdiction existed. *Id.* at 509.

The Court first noted—like the Court of Appeals here—that specific personal jurisdiction requires that a "nonresident defendant ha[ve] sufficient minimum contacts with that state such that it does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Id.* at 500. It then, citing *Walden*, recognized the well-established principle that a defendant must, through her own intentional conduct related to the action, create the necessary substantial contacts. *Id.* at 501-02. And, it held that courts are to review the relationship and contacts to determine if they are appropriately substantial by using the third prong of three-part jurisdiction test that Division I applied here, *i.e.*, by

reviewing "the quality, nature, and extent of the activity in the forum state, the relative convenience of the parties, the benefits and protection of the laws of the forum state afforded the respective parties, and the basic equities of the situation", *id.*, a rule that this Court established 27 years ago in *Shute*, 113 Wn.2d at 769-71; *see also* discussion *infra* Part D.3. None of this discussion established new precedent. Indeed, having discussed *Walden*, the Court adhered to its traditional specific jurisdiction analysis. Division I did the same here.

Similarly, in *LG*—decided after *Ashby*—this Court specifically set forth and relied on the same traditional, three-prong test that Division I applied here. 186 Wn.2d at 176-77. Concluding that jurisdiction existed over foreign entities that were accused of price-fixing CRTs and selling them to Washington buyers, the Court held that, by purposely selling the CRTs into Washington, the entities availed themselves of the privilege of conducting activity in the State and that jurisdiction was reasonable. And, in so holding, the Court rejected the entities' *Walden* citation, noting that, unlike *Walden*—where the U.S. Supreme Court held that jurisdiction did not exist because the defendant had no contacts with the forum and the plaintiffs simply felt the effects of the tortious conduct in the forum—in *LG*, the entities purposely reached into Washington. *Id.* at 182 n.4. The same is true here.

Finally, in *Noll*—decided after *Ashby* and *LG*—this Court analyzed whether jurisdiction existed over a foreign entity that placed asbestos into a stream of commerce that ended in Washington. 188 Wn.2d at 406-11. The Court again relied on the traditional three-part jurisdictional test. *Id.* at 411-12. Holding that jurisdiction did not exist, the Court noted that the foreign defendant sold its asbestos to a California company that, in turn, sold the asbestos into Washington. *Id.* at 415-16. The defendant's only connection with Washington was through a third party with a Washington connection—the defendant had no purposeful contact with Washington. *Id.*

In so holding, this Court specifically considered the argument AKAS and AKAS II make here—that *Walden* requires courts to focus on "suitrelated conduct"—but properly did not limit its review, as AKAS and AKAS II argue it must under *Walden*, to only the defendant's acts that would satisfy tort elements. Rather, it correctly looked to the defendant's act of placing its product in the stream of commerce, and held that it had intentionally sent products to California, not Washington. *Id.* Thus, this Court, as it previously has done, analyzed whether the defendant itself established a Washington connection. *Id.* Division I did the same here.

In *Noll*, *LG*, and *Ashby*, this Court had the benefit of, and has interpreted, the U.S. Supreme Court's recent specific jurisdiction precedent, clearly detailed Washington's current specific personal jurisdiction law, and

it properly continued to apply its traditional personal jurisdictional analysis.

Consistent with the approach, Division I did the same. Its decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent, and review should be denied.

2. The decision affirming denial of AKAS/AKAS II's motion does not conflict with U.S. Supreme Court precedent.

In holding that AKAS and AKAS II are subject to specific personal jurisdiction, Division I correctly applied well-established U.S. Supreme Court precedent. None of the five U.S. Supreme Court decisions that AKAS and AKAS II cite conflict with Division I's decision, alter the established, traditional analysis that Division I applied, or require a new analysis. This Court should, thus, deny review.

First, three of the five cases that AKAS and AKAS II argue conflict with the decision here—*BNSF Ry. v. Tyrrell*, __ U.S. __, 137 S. Ct. 1549, 198 L. Ed. 2d 36 (2017), *Daimler*, 134 S. Ct. 746, and *Goodyear*, 564 U.S. 915—are general personal jurisdiction cases. Division I held that general jurisdiction does not exist. App. 012 n.5. Therefore, these decisions are essentially irrelevant here.⁴

stating that, "[b]ecause neither Nelson nor Tyrrell alleges any injury from work in or related to Montana, only the propriety of general jurisdiction is at issue here." 137 S. Ct. at 1558.

Answer to Petition for Review - 11

4

⁴ To the extent *Goodyear* discusses specific personal jurisdiction at all—in just two brief sentences—it holds only, and unremarkably, that a foreign entity that negligently designed and constructed a tire abroad that failed and killed Americans abroad, and whose only contact with the forum state was that its parent company's affiliates sold some of its non-accident-related type tires in the forum, is not subject to specific jurisdiction in the forum. 564 U.S. at 919-21. Similarly, the only discussion that *BNSF* sets forth is a single sentence

Second, neither *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, __ U.S. __, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L. Ed. 2d 395 (2017), nor *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. 1115, altered the traditional analysis that Division I employed. Indeed, the U.S. Supreme Court's reasoning and direct statements from both cases made clear that—contrary to AKAS and AKAS II's assertion that the Court altered the law—it simply applied only traditional, well-established jurisdictional rules. *Bristol*, 137 S. Ct. at 404 ("Our settled principles regarding specific jurisdiction control this case."), 407 (using a "straightforward application" of "settled principles of personal jurisdiction" to decide case); *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1126 ("Well-established principles of personal jurisdiction are sufficient to decide this case.").

In *Walden*—an intentional tort case—an officer in an Atlanta airport seized cash from two Nevada residents as they flew through Georgia from Puerto Rico to Nevada. He also drafted a probable cause affidavit and sent it to a Georgia US Attorney. The Nevadans sued him in Nevada claiming he unlawfully seized the funds and that his affidavit was false. *Id.* at 1119-20.

The U.S. Supreme Court held that jurisdiction did not exist, but in so doing, it simply—as Division I noted, App. 18-20—reaffirmed two well-established tenets. First, a defendant's own suit-related conduct must create the forum contacts. *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1121-22. As the U.S. Supreme Court explained, this is so because "the relationship [between the defendant

and the forum] must arise out of contacts the 'defendant himself' creates with the forum", id.—a principle the Court established 30 years prior in Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 475, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985). Second, a defendant must establish connections with the forum, not just a plaintiff. Walden, 134 S. Ct. at 1122. It then reiterated another 30-year-old tenet: a defendant can create those connections by "purposefully reach[ing] out beyond [its] State and into another by, for example, entering a contractual relationship that 'envisioned continuing and wide-reaching contacts in the forum State." Id. at 1122-23 (internal quote marks omitted) (quoting Burger King, 471 U.S. at 479-80). It further stated that these tenets also apply to intentional torts. Id.

The Court then applied the traditional principles, and per the *Calder v. Jones*, 465 U.S. 783, 104 S. Ct. 1482, 79 L. Ed. 2d 804 (1984), intentional tort effects test, it held that a court cannot exercise specific jurisdiction if the defendant's sole, suit-related connection with the forum is that the plaintiff lives in the forum and feels the effects of the intentionally tortious conduct in the forum. Because the officer's sole connection with Nevada was that his actions affected persons who lived in Nevada, jurisdiction did not exist.

Despite the holding's limited nature, the fact the Court never before limited review of a defendant's suit-related actions and contacts to acts that establish a cause of action's elements, and the Court's clear statement that it

applied only pre-existing law, AKAS and AKAS II argue the Court, by using the term "challenged conduct" near the end of the decision, made a sweeping change, and restricted courts to reviewing only the actions and contacts that satisfy a cause of action's elements to exercise jurisdiction. As Division I recognized, App. 20-21, *Walden* does not support this narrow focus.

First, *Walden* was clear that jurisdiction may have arisen there had the officer made other contacts. As it stated, "[the officer] never traveled to, conducted activities within, contacted anyone in, or sent anything or anyone to Nevada." 134 S. Ct. at 1124. None of those acts or contacts were needed to establish the intentional tort, but they could have supported jurisdiction. Moreover, in reiterating that California jurisdiction existed in *Calder*, the Court noted it had, beyond tortious acts, "examined *the various contacts* the defendant had created with" the forum, including the fact "[t]he defendants relied on phone calls to 'California sources' for the information in their article". *Id.* at 1123. Again, those actions would not establish the tort.

The Court also uses the phrase "challenged conduct" only once, and it is only in that part of the opinion that specifically addresses the intentional tort and application of the *Calder* effects test. Clearly, looking to tortious conduct when applying the effects test follows from the test itself. But even under the test, as *Walden* notes, the Court still looked to non-tortious conduct when it decided *Calder*. AKAS II's narrow interpretation fails. *See Havel v.*

Honda Motor Eur., No. 131291, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 140983, at *26-27 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 30, 2014) ("Walden and Calder do not limit 'suit-related conduct' to the *elements* of a tort."). Division I fully considered Walden and AKAS and AKAS II's arguments, and it correctly—as the U.S. Supreme Court instructed—continued to apply a traditional analysis.

Bristol followed Walden in 2017. There, over 600 plaintiffs—most non-California residents—sued Bristol-Myers ("BMS"), a Delaware entity, in California state court for injuries the drug Plavix caused. 198 L. Ed. 2d at 400-01. Though BMS had research facilities and employees in California, it "did not develop Plavix in California, did not create a marketing strategy for Plavix in California, and did not manufacture, label, package, or work on the regulatory approval of the product in California." *Id.* at 401. And while BMS made about one percent of its Plavix sales to California, the foreign plaintiffs "did not allege that they obtained Plavix through California physicians or from any other California source; nor did they claim that they were injured by Plavix or were treated for their injuries in California." *Id.*

The U.S. Supreme Court held that specific jurisdiction did not exist as to the foreign plaintiffs' claims. In so holding, the Court reiterated a well-established, 30-year-old rule: to exercise specific jurisdiction, "the *suit* must 'aris[e] out of or relat[e] to the defendant's contacts with the forum." Id. at 403 (second emphasis added); Helicopteros Nacional De Columbia v. Hall,

466 U.S. 408, 414 n.8, 104 S. Ct. 1868, 80 L. Ed. 2d 404 (1984). Applying the tenet, the Court noted that the nonresident plaintiffs "were not prescribed Plavix in California, did not purchase Plavix in California, did not ingest Plavix in California, and were not injured by Plavix in California," and, thus, it concluded that there existed no "adequate link between the State and the nonresidents' claims." *Id.* at 404. In other words, the non-residents' Plavix injuries did not arise from BMS' California Plavix sales.

In reaching its conclusion, the Court did not limit the acts or contacts it reviewed to the very conduct that satisfies the elements of the tort. Indeed, the connections it states were lacking would not have established the tort. Moreover, *Bristol* did not even use the terms from *Walden* that AKAS and AKAS II rely on—*i.e.*, "suit-related conduct" or "challenged conduct". It simply applied traditional rules, as Division I did here.

The U.S Supreme Court has never limited the type of contacts or conduct that a court may consider for jurisdictional purposes to only those that fulfill a cause of action's elements. Nor did it do so in *Walden* or *Bristol*. *E.g.*, *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1126 ("Well-established principles of personal jurisdiction are sufficient to decide this case."). Rather, it reiterated and then applied prior law, and Division I properly applied that law here. AKAS II intentionally reached into Washington to enter the ANTARCTIC SEA contract and purposely established a relationship with Washington; thus, minimum

contacts exist. *See id.* at 1122-23. Huynh's action also arises directly out of those contacts. Division I's decision does not conflict with U.S. Supreme Court precedent, and this Court should deny review.

3. The decision affirming denial of AKAS/AKAS II's motion does not involve significant questions of law under the U.S. Constitution.

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